AGREEMENT

between the

CITY OF NEW BEDFORD

and

AMERICAN FEDERATION
OF
STATE, COUNTY
AND
MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES
AFL-CIO

STATE COUNCIL 93 LOCAL 851 UNIT B EMS EMPLOYEES

July 1, 2018 – June 30, 2021

Table of Contents

Article		Page
Article I	Recognition	1
Article II	Check-Off of Union Dues	1
Article III	Grievance and Arbitration Procedure	2
Article IV	Seniority	4
Article V	Overtime	5
Article VI	Shift Differential	8
Article VII	Union Representatives	9
Article VIII	Clean-up Time	9
Article IX	Sick Leave	9
Article X	Funeral Leave	14
Article XI	Personal Leave	15
Article XII	Maternity Leave	16
Article XIII	Jury Pay	17
Article XIV	Classification and Compensation Plan	17
Article XV	Longevity	19
Article XVI	Holidays	20
Article XVII	Protection	21
Article XVIII	No Strike	22
Article XIX	Vacations	22
Article XX	Bulletin Boards	25
Article XXI	Special Provisions Applying to Employees Covered by Agreement	25
Article XXII	Management Rights	27
Article XXIII	Contract Provisions	28
Article XXIV	Working Out of Classification	28
Article XXV	Miscellaneous Article	28
Article XXVI	Performance Evaluation	29
Article XXVII	Labor-Management Committee	31
Article XXVIII	Residency	31
Article XXIX	Drug Testing	31
Article XXX	Term and Effect of Agreement	32
	EMS Classification and Compensation Plan	Attachment A
	EMS Rotating Shift Schedule	Attachment B
	Agreement – CORI Checks	Attachment C
	Drug and Alcohol Testing Policy	Attachment D

This Agreement entered into under the provision of Chapter 150E of the Massachusetts General Laws effective the 1st day of July, 2016 by the City of New Bedford, hereinafter referred to as the "Employer", and Local 851, State Council 93, American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO, Unit B, EMS Employees, hereinafter referred to as the "Union" or "Unit B", has as its purpose the promotion of harmonious relations between the Employer and the Union; the establishment of an equitable and peaceful procedure for the resolution of differences; and the establishment of rates of pay, hours of work and other conditions of employment.

ARTICLE I REGOGNITION

The Employer recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive bargaining agent for the purposes of establishing salaries, wages, hours and other conditions of employment for the following classes of employees: All full-time employees of the City of New Bedford, Department of Emergency Medical Services excluding the Director, Deputy Director, Unit C employees, part-time per-diem employees and clerical employees.

ARTICLE II UNION FEES, DUES AND ASSESSMENTS

The City shall bi-weekly deduct the employee's share of health insurance and life insurance premiums, union dues, and/or voluntary agency fees, dental insurance and any fees or assessments from the earned wages of each employee in such amount as determined by the Union provided that no such deduction shall be made from any employee's wages except when authorized by the employee on an appropriate form, a copy of which must have been submitted to the City. At least two (2) weeks' notice of change in any of the above deductions shall be given to the City. When a month contains three pay periods, no deductions shall be taken for the third pay period.

The Employer further agrees to electronically remit, on the Friday following the pay date, the aggregate amount of such deductions made during the preceding week to the Treasurer of the Union along with a list of those employees from whom said dues have been deducted.

The Union agrees to indemnify and hold harmless the Employer from any liability incurred by the Employer as a result of making any dues or voluntary agency fee deduction in accordance with the provisions of this Article and on the basis of an unrevoked authorization of check-off. No revocation of check-off shall be effective unless filed in writing with the City Auditor of the City of New Bedford.

The Employer agrees to notify the Union in writing whenever deductions are not made in accordance with an authorization of check-off due to the fact that an employee is not on the payroll during any payroll period, whether due to illness, retirement, resignation or other cause. The Employer also agrees to notify the Union in writing whenever a new

employee is placed on the payroll in any position covered by the contract. Such notification shall be made within ten (10) working days of the date of his/her employment. When a new employee covered by this agreement is hired, the City agrees to allow ten (10) minutes to be allotted to the Union representative and the new employee, if the new employee so chooses, during which time the Union representative may discuss the Union with the employee.

In consideration of the Employer's entering into this collective bargaining agreement, which Agreement includes any voluntary agency service fee provision, the Union hereby agrees to indemnify the said Employer and hold it harmless from any and all claims, liabilities or costs of the Employer which arise out of entering into said provision or which arise out of the payroll deduction of voluntary agency service fees.

ARTICLE III GRIEVANCE AND ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

Any grievance or dispute which may arise between the parties with regard to the application, meaning or interpretation of this Agreement shall be settled in the following manner: For purposes of this Article, the date of the grievance shall be considered to be the date of which the grievance or dispute is brought to the attention of the union steward. The employee(s) involved shall bring notice of said violation or dispute to the union steward within two (2) working days of the date of the occurrence of said violation or dispute or the date the employee knew or should have known of the alleged violation or dispute.

STEP 1:

The union steward and/or representative, with or without the aggrieved employee, shall take up the grievance in writing with the employee's Department Head within five (5) working days of the date of the grievance. The Department Head shall attempt to adjust the matter and shall respond to the steward within five (5) working days of the presentation of the grievance.

The Union's failure to meet any time limit or extension to a time limit set forth in this agreement shall render the grievance ineligible for further processing or non-arbitrable and the Employer's response shall be final.

STEP 2:

If the grievance still remains unsettled, it shall be presented to the Director of Labor Relations and Personnel, acting for the Mayor, in writing within five (5) working days after the response of the Department Head is due. The Director shall respond in writing within thirty (30) working

days of the presentation of the grievance. Failure by the Director to reply within this period shall be construed as a decision favorable to the employee.

STEP 3:

If the grievance is still unsettled, either party may, within thirty (30) working days after the Director's reply is due, by written notice to the other, request arbitration.

The services of the American Arbitration Association or upon mutual agreement Labor Relations Connection shall be utilized for purposes of arbitration of disputes over the interpretation or application of the terms of this Agreement as provided in chapter 150E of the General Laws, as amended.

The decision of the arbitrator shall be final and binding on the parties and the arbitrator shall be requested to issue his decision in accordance with the rules of the American Arbitration Association.

The expense, if any, for the arbitrator's services and the proceedings shall be borne equally by the Employer and the Union. If either party desires a verbatim record of the proceeding, it may cause such a record to be made, providing it pays for the record and makes copies available without charge to the other party and to the arbitrator.

Grievances involving disciplinary action shall be processed beginning at the second step. If the case reaches arbitration, the arbitrator shall have the power to direct a resolution of the grievance up to and including restoration to the job with all compensation and privileges that would have been due the employee.

When an employee covered by this Agreement is suspended for any reason by his supervisor or Department Head, said employee shall be given notice in writing of the suspension, together with an explanation of the reason(s) therefore. Copies of such notices must also be provided to the employee's union steward and the union president.

At least forty-eight (48) hours shall be allowed from the time of filing of the notice with the Union before such suspension may be placed in effect, during which time the Union shall attempt to settle the difficulty with the suspending authority; except that in cases in which the cause for suspension involves acts of violence, acts commonly considered to be of a criminal nature, or acts endangering property and/or the safety of fellow employees or the public, such suspension may be implemented and the employee's union steward notified immediately. Written notice of said suspension shall be furnished to the Union within twenty-four (24) hours of the implementation of the suspension.

Where arbitration is elected by the employee as the method for resolving disputes involving suspension, dismissal, removal or termination, notwithstanding any contrary provision in Sections 39 through 44 of Chapter 31, it shall be the exclusive procedure for resolving any such dispute, except that the City may for any reason discharge or suspend an employee (1)

during his or her probationary period as defined in Par. 12 of the Rules of Personnel Administration and/or (2) an employee appointed as a provisional employee with one year or less of service with the City of New Bedford. Once a demand for arbitration has been made, the employee waives all rights to resolve the dispute under statutory procedures set forth in Chapter 31 and such waiver under Chapter 31 must be in writing and is a condition precedent to filing a demand for arbitration under this article. If both parties agree they may submit a grievance to mediation before arbitration.

ARTICLE IV SENIORITY

SECTION 1.

In all cases in which the Employer promotes employees within the bargaining unit from a list of employees eligible for promotion, which list is issued under the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 31, the principle of seniority shall govern, provided that all other facts reasonably related to qualification for promotions are equal.

SECTION 2.

When, at any time, an opening for promotional advancement occurs within the department, the department shall post a notice for employees of said opening (with a copy to the steward) at least seven (7) days prior to any action to fill such opening. A copy of the notice, with the signatures of the employees wishing to be considered for the position thereon, shall be submitted to the President of the Union within two (2) working days of the closing date for applications.

SECTION 3.

In all cases in which a vacancy exists in a position for which there is no existing list under the provisions of Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 31, the following factors shall be used in appointing and promoting employees:

- 1. Work history and performance
- 2. Experience in related work
- 3. Education and training related to the vacant position
- 4. Good communications skills and history of favorable interaction with fellow employees, management and others
- 5. Seniority as measured by length of service within the department

SECTION 4.

Where there is an existing Civil Service list for a higher position to be filled on a temporary basis, the selection of an employee to perform temporary service in such higher position shall be made in accordance with Civil Service Rules. When there is no existing civil service list for the position to be filled temporarily, the selection of any employee to perform temporary service in such higher position shall be made based on the factors set forth in Section 3 above. In making appointments to any vacant position within the bargaining unit, the Appointing Authority agrees not to exercise its judgment arbitrarily, capriciously or unreasonably.

SECTION 5.

When an Appointing Authority makes a permanent or provisional appointment under Civil Service to fill a vacancy, the assignment of the newly appointed employee shall be made only after the vacancy has been posted for five (5) working days and the employees within that classification in the department, or division within the department, have been given the opportunity to bid by seniority. Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the Department Head from making temporary or lateral transfers of employees within a classification. No lateral transfer of an employee on a permanent basis shall be permitted which serves to defeat the purpose of this provision.

SECTION 6.

Seniority shall be recognized as the controlling factor for shift assignment within a department or division. The exercise of seniority shall be limited to an opening within a classification title only. When an employee is newly assigned to a job, the City may, for a period of three (3) months, select the shift assignment for the employee. Nothing in this section shall be construed to limit the right of the City to establish, change, enlarge or decrease shifts or the number of personnel assigned thereto, provided that the rights of seniority set forth in this Agreement are followed in making the necessary personnel assignments.

SECTION 7.

The term "seniority", as applied to this article, shall be interpreted to mean total service rendered to the City by an employee, regardless of departmental affiliation (including the New Bedford School Department), in a permanent, provisional or temporary classification except that (1) employment in a temporary and/or provisional capacity must have led to a permanent classification in a continuous and unbroken period of service, and (2) because service in the School Department shall be based on the total months of service completed during continuous and unbroken terms of service, with twelve (12) such months being considered equivalent to one year of seniority. Where a break or breaks in employee service has occurred, the seniority starting date shall be the beginning of the current period of time of unbroken service, unless such previous service is permitted under Section 33 of Chapter 31 of the Massachusetts General Laws.

ARTICLE V OVERTIME

Unless otherwise provided in this article, employees covered by this Agreement shall be paid overtime at the rate of one and one-half times their regular rate of pay for work in excess of their normal workday and/or normal work week. No employee shall be entitled to be paid more than one and one-half times his/her hourly rate of pay for any hours worked, except those worked on a holiday.

Any employee called back to work on the same day after having completed his/her assigned work and left his/her place of employment and before his/her next regularly scheduled starting time, shall be paid at the rate of time and one-half for all hours worked on recall. He/She will be guaranteed a minimum of three (3) hours pay at time and one-half. When employees are required to commence work prior to the start time of their regular shift, the Parties agree to the following:

- a. When an employee is directed (verbally or in writing), prior to the completion of his/her regular shift or any overtime hours worked immediately following the completion of his/her regular shift, that he/she is to report to work the following day earlier than the regular starting time for his/her shift, this shall not be considered a "call back" and the employee shall be entitled to receive overtime compensation for only the hours actually worked prior to the start of his/her regular shift.
- b. When an employee is called in to work early, without having received prior notice as described in paragraph a above, this situation shall be considered a "call back" and the employee shall be entitled to receive a minimum of three hours of overtime compensation for work performed prior to the start time of his/her regular shift.
- c. Employees being paid for a three (3) hour call back shall not receive additional compensation if they are called back within the original three (3) hour call back period.

Attendance at meetings of Board or Commissions that are scheduled for other than the employee's normal work shift which are clearly defined as "Voluntary" or "Non-obligatory" shall not require payment under the terms of this Article. No discrimination, coercion or other punitive action may be exercised against an employee who elects not to attend such meetings.

Compensatory time will be allowed to accumulate in lieu of payment at the option of the employee for overtime at the rate of time and one-half for each hour of overtime. The employee's selection of overtime or compensatory time shall apply to the employee's full overtime shift. Compensatory time may not accrue beyond ninety (90) hours for each employee. An employee who works overtime and has ninety (90) hours of compensatory time shall be paid for hours worked on overtime. Use of compensatory time will be allowed to an employee so long as the compensatory time does not cause interference with the regular work in a department and can be filled by a per diem employee causing no additional overtime expense to the

department. No employee will be discriminated against for not accepting compensatory time in lieu of payment for overtime.

Existing employees shall be allowed to carry over from year to year all previously accrued time on the books as of June 30, 2000. After July 1, 2000, any additional compensatory time accrued must be used in the fiscal year in which it is earned. Employees ordered or requested to forego use of their compensatory time shall be paid in full at the end of the fiscal year. Compensatory time earned in June in any calendar year may be carried over to the next fiscal year.

In emergencies or as the needs of the City require, employees may be required to perform overtime work. Employees will be given as much advance notice as possible of overtime work.

Scheduled overtime will be posted and distributed to all employees in a department on an equitable and fair basis according to seniority and among those employees who regularly perform such work. In the event a department needs additional employees to perform overtime work, this overtime work shall be divided and rotated as equally as possible among other employees in the bargaining unit according to seniority among those who are qualified to perform the work.

Employees who are contacted for an overtime assignment will have twenty (20) minutes to respond. In the event the employee is on-duty at the time, they will have additional time to respond, but not more than forty-five (45) minutes from the time notification is issued. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, in the event of an emergency situation, including late notice for the upcoming shift or an emergency vacancy that occurs during an ongoing shift, all employees will have twenty (20) minutes to respond to the notification before the assignment is filled.

The Department will maintain three (3) separate lists for overtime, in order of seniority: one (1) list for the position of Senior Paramedic, one (1) list for the position of Paramedic and one (1) list for the position of Basic.

In the event of a vacant shift in the position of Senior Paramedic, due to sick leave, personal leave, injured on duty or vacation the vacant shift will be offered as an overtime opportunity to Senior Paramedics. In the event a Senior Paramedic is unavailable, a Paramedic will be hired from the overtime list and the Paramedic with the most seniority, on duty during the shift will be offered the opportunity to work out of grade as the Senior Paramedic for the shift. In the event that no Paramedic on duty, with at least two years of Paramedic experience working for NBEMS volunteers to work out of grade as the Senior Paramedic for the shift, the Paramedic on duty with the most seniority will be mandated to work out of class as the Senior Paramedic for the shift. In the event the City receives information indicating that a Senior Paramedic position will be vacant for a significant period of time, due to extended sick leave or injury on duty, the City may post a Temporary Senior Paramedic position to fill the vacancy.

In the event of a vacant shift in the position of Paramedic, due to sick leave, personal leave or, injured on duty, the vacant shift will first be offered as an overtime opportunity to the

full-time Paramedics. In the event the vacant Paramedic shift cannot be filled with a full-time Paramedic, Senior Paramedics will be offered the opportunity, then per-diem Paramedics. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, if a Paramedic vacancy occurs on an ambulance, and no full-time Paramedic accepts the offer to work the overtime opportunity, the vacant shift will then be offered to Senior Paramedics, then full-time Basics, then per-diem Paramedics. In the event the shift still cannot be filled, each half of the shift will be filled by a full time Paramedic, through a mandated overtime, if necessary. The filling of Paramedic positions with Basics will not apply to Paramedic assignments to a chase trucks (Class V ALS SUV).

In the event of a vacant shift in the position of Basic, due to sick leave, personal leave or injured on duty, the vacant shift will first be offered as an overtime opportunity to the full-time Basics. In the event the vacant shift cannot be filled with a full-time Basic, Paramedics will be offered the opportunity, then per-diem Basics. In the event the shift cannot be filled, each half of the shift will be filled by a full time Basic, through a mandated overtime, if necessary.

In the event a Paramedic or Basic employee is out of work on extended sick leave (more than three days), the full-time employees will be contacted first for the first or any part of the first tour of duty. After that, per-diem employees will be contacted first.

In the event a Paramedic or Basic employee is out of work on extended injury on duty (more than three days), the per-diem employees will be contacted first with the exception of the remainder of the tour of duty that the employee is injured on. The portion of the shift will be filled with full time employees, if possible.

In the event a Senior Paramedic is out of work on extended sick leave or due to an injury on duty (more than three days), the Director shall have the authority to make a temporary appointment to the position of Senior Paramedic in accordance with Article IV Sections 3 & 4 for the duration of the leave period. The shift that becomes vacant due to this appointment shall be filled in accordance with the procedure outlined above.

In the event a Paramedic or Basic employee is out of work due to vacation, replacements will be filled by per-diem employees.

Employees shall have the option of declining offered overtime, but in the event that sufficient personnel do not accept such offered overtime on a voluntary basis, or in the event of emergency situations where time is of the essence in executing the overtime work, employees such as are deemed necessary by the City may be required to work on an assigned basis; and provided further that there shall be no discrimination or disciplinary action taken against any employee who declines to work overtime on a voluntary basis.

The Employer shall keep records in accordance with established departmental policy. In case of a grievance involving such records, they shall be subject to examination by the union representative or the shop steward with the Director or his/her designee.

Overtime assignments shall be made by assignment and not by calculating the number of hours worked.

Approved leave with pay shall be synonymous with work time for purposes of computing overtime, provided, however, that sick leave shall always be paid at regular wage rates.

Holiday pay is not paid time for overtime purposes if the holiday falls on a normal day off.

ARTICLE VI SHIFT DIFFERENTIAL

Effective July 1, 2016 employees shall be paid a night differential of an additional seven percent (7%) of their regular rate of pay for the hours between 4:00 p.m. and 7:00 a.m. Employees absent for more than twenty (20) consecutive days shall not be paid the shift differential during any period beyond twenty (20) consecutive days.

ARTICLE VII UNION REPRESENTATIVES

A written list of union stewards and union officials shall be furnished to the Employer immediately after their designation and the Union shall notify the Employer of any changes. In the event the officers of Council 93 are required to attend monthly meetings of the local union and an employee who is an officer or steward of the local union is regularly scheduled to work that day, he/she shall be compensated at his/her regular hourly rate of pay during the period of his/her absence for the meeting.

The City agrees to notify the Union Steward of memos and postings regarding union members.

The above shall be granted reasonable time off during working hours to investigate and settle grievances arising under the provisions of this Agreement.

During the term of this Agreement, as many as one (1) employee who is a union steward or union official or elected delegate shall be granted time off, without loss of pay, at any time for the purpose of attending meetings of State or national bodies with which the union is affiliated. Employees may be granted leave without pay for no more than three (3) conventions or meetings per calendar year.

The City agrees to permit union representatives to be present at all hearings and meetings involving personnel matters. No employee shall be refused union representation in matters involving discipline or job performance.

ARTICLE VIII CLEAN-UP TIME

In the event that an employee's clothing and/or person become unexpectedly contaminated with malodorous or caustic substances, such as blood or bodily fluids, etc., to the extent that a hygienic or personal health problem is caused, such employee shall be granted necessary wash-up time without penalty.

ARTICLE IX SICK LEAVE

SECTION 1.

Each full time permanent or provisional employee shall be credited with sick leave with pay at the rate of ten (10) hours for each month of service starting after the date of this Agreement. Sick leave credit will begin the first (1st) day of the month following the month in which a new employee is employed. Sick leave may be accumulated up to one thousand four hundred and forty-four (1,444) hours. Any accumulation, which present employees have at the effective date of this Agreement, shall remain in effect.

A full-time employee shall accumulate sick leave credit with pay at the rate of ten (10) hours for each full calendar month of employment. An employee on any leave with pay or industrial accident leave shall accumulate sick leave credits. A full-time employee shall not accrue sick leave credit for any month in which he or she was on leave without pay, or absent without pay for the entire month.

A list of accumulated sick leave shall be posted in the department for all employees by January 31 for the previous year ending December 31. No transfer within the service of the City shall affect the amount of earned sick leave credit and accumulation to which an employee is entitled under this Article, including sick leave credit earned while an employee may have been employed with the New Bedford School Department.

Employees who have to their sick leave account a maximum accumulation of one thousand four hundred and forty-four (1,444) hours on each January 1 thereafter will be permitted to use no more than one hundred and twenty (120) hours of sick leave during the calendar year before any deduction is made from their maximum accumulation.

Notwithstanding this procedure for sick leave use, no employee shall be paid more than one thousand four hundred and forty-four (1,444) hours in Severance Pay pursuant to Article XI, Section 7.

Sick leave shall be allowed in increments of no less than one hour (not in minutes). Employees who are absent for their entire tour during a forty-eight hour week will be charged forty (40) hours of sick leave for the week.

SECTION 2.

An employee who is reinstated or re-employed after an absence of less than one (1) year shall be credited with his or her sick leave credit at the termination of his or her prior employment.

SECTION 3.

Employees whose service with the City is terminated for cause shall not be entitled to any compensation in lieu of accumulated sick leave credits.

SECTION 4.

Sick leave credits earned by an employee following a return to duty after leave without pay or absence without pay shall not be applied to such period of time.

SECTION 5.

Notification of absences under this Article must be given to the designated representative of the Appointing Authority as early as possible. The department shall post in a conspicuous place the procedure and person to notify of an illness so that employees will be clearly informed of the procedures to follow.

SECTION 6.

The Director may request a doctor's verification of an employee's condition. Medical certification will not be required to substantiate request for approval of sick leave of three (3) days or less. A doctor's verification of illness may be required by the Director regardless of duration in cases of frequent use of sick leave or also when the pattern of sick leave used indicates a potential abuse of sick leave privileges. Expenses, if any, resulting from verification of illness will be the responsibility of the employee.

In the event of illness requiring a doctor's certificate, separate certificates for each pay period shall not be required. A doctor's certificate for an illness beyond three (3) days shall be submitted before the next pay period stating the expected length of time the employee will be unable to work and will be considered sufficient proof of illness to insure continuing receipt of sick pay. In the event an illness will exceed the length of time stated by the physician, the first certificate may be extended in writing by a physician. A certificate stating the date on which the employee is capable of returning to his duties shall be submitted by the employee upon his return to work.

SECTION 7.

Each employee retired by the Retirement Board or who dies after ten (10) years of satisfactory service shall receive in one lump sum forty-five (\$45.00) for each eight (8) hours of accumulated sick leave. Each employee who resigns with ten (10) or more years of service and with at least six hundred (600) hours of accumulated sick leave upon the effective date of

resignation, shall receive in one lump sum forty-five dollars (\$45.00) for each day of accumulated sick leave.

SECTION 8.

It is agreed that whenever a female employee shall become pregnant, she shall furnish the Director or Appointing Authority with a certificate from her physician stating the approximate date of her delivery. She may continue to work as long as her physician certifies that she is able to do so, provided that the Director does not find her work performance is impaired. Disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth and recovery therefrom are, for all job-related purposes, temporary disabilities and should be treated as such under the sick leave provisions of this Agreement. Sick leave policy shall be applied to disability due to pregnancy or childbirth on the same terms and conditions as they are applied to other disabilities, provided that nothing in this Article shall restrict a female employee from requesting a leave of absence without pay under the provision of General Laws, Chapter 31.

SECTION 9.

Employees will be provided an incentive for attendance as of November 15 of each year in which no sick leave days are taken in an amount of \$400.00. The penalties for sick leave use will be in the following amounts:

November 15, 2014	
0 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$400.00
1 twelve (12) hour shift of sick leave -	\$350.00
2 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$300.00
3 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$250.00
4 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$200.00
5 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$150.00
More than 5 twelve (12) hour shifts	\$0.00

Payments will be made by November 30 of each year. Use of sick leave pending a determination by Workers' Compensation will not be considered sick leave use if the Workers' Compensation claim has been approved for payment and the employee has been reaccredited with his/her sick leave. Further, in the event an employee is absent due to an injury that is work-related that would be compensable under Workers' Compensation but for the fact he/she was absent for less than five (5) days, use of sick leave will not be charged against his/her record of attendance for the purpose of incentive payment.

Newly hired employees after November 15 of each year who are employed for six (6) months or more during the period November 15 through November 14 of a year will entitled to the following sick leave incentive:

November 15, 2014	
0 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$200.00
1 twelve (12) hour shift of sick leave -	\$175.00
2 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$150.00
3 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$125.00
4 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$100.00
5 twelve (12) hour shifts of sick leave -	\$75.00
More than 5 twelve (12) hour shifts	\$0.00

Employees with six (6) months or less of service shall not be entitled to sick leave incentive payment.

SECTION 10.

Employees who are absent from work due to an industrial accident which has been reported within three (3) working days of the date of the accident may, at their option, draw upon their sick leave, day by day, until they exhaust their sick leave or upon receipt of their first Workers' Compensation claim, the employee will reimburse the City for that portion of the sick leave which was used during the period in which the employee was waiting for Workers' Compensation approval. The employee shall then be re-credited with the sick leave, which was used during the same period.

SECTION 11.

A. ESTABLISHMENT

A Sick Leave Bank (for City of New Bedford employees who are members of Local 851 Unit A and Unit B) shall be established for the purpose of making additional sick leave days available to employees who are not "Sick Leave Abusers", i.e., have never received a warning for excessive absenteeism, have exhausted their entire sick leave accumulation through prolonged illness and who have serious illness or injury. A warning of excessive absenteeism or sick leave abuse shall be removed if the employee works five (5) consecutive years without any notice of sick leave abuse. Participation in the Sick Leave Bank shall be voluntary. Any employee who voluntarily participates in the Sick Leave Bank shall be eligible to use the Bank after using all available time (sick days, vacation, compensatory and personal time) due the employee. For purposes of this section, one day shall be equal to eight (8) hours.

B. FUNDING

The Sick Leave Bank will be initially funded by deducting one (1) sick day from the accumulated sick leave days of each employee who has agreed to participate in the Bank and contributing such day(s) to the Bank. When the Bank is depleted to sixty (60) sick leave days, an additional assessment of one (1) day of sick leave shall be made against the account of each employee who has agreed to continue to participate in the Bank, without a membership solicitation.

C. GRANTING OF DAYS

The initial grant of sick leave days from the Bank shall not exceed forty (40) days, after which the employee may reapply for additional periods of twenty (20) days. The total amount of time may not exceed one hundred eighty (180) days in the aggregate. Requests for Sick Leave Bank days shall be submitted in writing to the Sick Leave Bank Committee and shall include a written statement from the employee's physician indicating the nature and the extent of the illness or injury and the estimated time that the employee will be absent from work.

D. MEMBERSHIP

Employees wishing to join the Bank must apply for membership on a form approved by the Sick Leave Bank Committee. New employees must have three (3) years of service or have accrued twenty (20) days of sick leave in order to be eligible to join the Sick Leave Bank. Current employees of AFSCME wishing to join the Bank must submit an application for membership to Sick Leave Bank Committee, AFSCME, Local 851, 46 Foster Street, New Bedford, MA 02740. Membership will be open to all employees after the finish of their probationary time, staying consistent with Article XI, Section 1. Employees may join the Sick Leave Bank in November and remain a member until resignation.

E. ADMINISTRATION

The Sick Leave Bank shall be administered by a Sick Leave Bank Committee comprised of five (5) persons; three (3) employees of the City who are members of AFSCME, Local 851, and two (2) members designated by the Mayor. The Sick Leave Bank Committee shall submit a copy of membership list with the number of days to be deducted from each member to the Personnel Department, Auditor's Office and employee's department by January 31st of each year. The decisions of the Sick Leave Bank Committee shall be final and shall NOT be subject to the grievance procedure. To be able to serve on the committee, the AFSCME member has to participate in the Sick Leave Bank.

F. WORKERS' COMPENSATION

Employees who are drawing upon Workers' Compensation will not be eligible to draw from the Sick Leave Bank.

G. SICK LEAVE INCENTIVE

Donations to the Sick Leave Bank shall not affect the employee's sick leave incentive.

SECTION 12.

Employees may use no more than five (5) sick days per calendar year effective January 1, 2005 to care for a mother, father, spouse, child, adopted child, child of spouse, or grandparent of the employee.

ARTICLE X FUNERAL LEAVE

- 1. A maximum of four (4) working shifts leave of absence within five (5) days of the funeral, excluding Saturdays and Sundays shall be granted to an employee on request when a death occurs to an employee's spouse, child, parent or step-child living in the household.
- 2. A maximum of three (3) working shifts leave of absence within five (5) days of the funeral, excluding Saturdays and Sundays shall be granted to an employee on request when a death occurs to other members of an employee's immediate family.
- 3. In the case of cremation, one (1) shift may be delayed for use at a later time within ninety (90) days of the death to attend deferred funeral services of a deceased who is cremated.
- 4. The immediate family is to be considered father, mother, spouse, the spouse of an employee's father or mother if the spouse is not the employee's natural parent, child, brother, sister, step brother, step sister, grandparent, grandchild, mother-in-law, father-in-law, daughter-in-law, son-in-law, adopted children, any stepchildren living within the household of the employee and a live-in companion of the employee who has lived with the employee for twelve (12) consecutive months before the death of the companion and is acknowledged to be a live-in companion regardless of sexual orientation.
- 5. One shift's leave of absence will be authorized for the death of aunt, uncle, niece or nephew of the employee, husband or wife of a brother or sister of the employee, including the husband or wife of the brother or sister of the employee's spouse, and a brother, sister, aunt, uncle, grandparent or grandchild of a spouse, stepchild of the employee residing outside the employee's household.
- 6. The employee must attend the funeral to be entitled to the above payment. No payment shall be made for any days of absence during the bereavement period in which the employee is not regularly scheduled to work. The one-day leave of absence must be taken within the three (3) calendar days of death. No employee shall lose pay to which he is normally entitled to while on leave of absence for death in the family nor will it be charged to sick leave or vacation pay.

ARTICLE XI PERSONAL LEAVE

All permanent or provisional full-time employees who have successfully completed the required probationary period of six (6) months will be eligible for forty (40) hours of personal leave which may be taken during the calendar year.

No employee will be allowed to use any advance personal leave prior to the conclusion of this six (6) month period.

When a full-time employee becomes eligible at the end of six months for personal leave during the calendar year, the date of hire will be the date used to credit personal days based upon the following schedule:

Date of Eligibility	Personal Leave
January 2 – March 31	forty (40) hours paid leave
April 1 – June 30	thirty (30) hours paid leave
July 1 – September 30	twenty (20) hours paid leave
October 1 – December 31	ten (10) hours paid leave

D-4- - CE11--11-114

Temporary or per diem employees shall not be eligible for personal leave.

Request for personal leave must be submitted to the employee's immediate supervisor and approved by the Director on an "Application of Leave" form. The application must be submitted two (2) working days before the anticipated personal leave, unless the circumstances for requesting such leave did not permit the two (2) working days' notice.

Personal leave may be requested in units of no less than three (3) hours and more than one (1) twelve hour shift. Personal leave shall not be authorized in the following circumstances:

- 1. Absences due to inclement weather, such as snowstorms.
- 2. Absences during periods when the work within a department requires the necessary staff for timely and efficient operations of the department, unless the request for personal leave is for a purpose to conduct necessary personal business that must be conducted during hours on the day requested.
- 3. Absences due to illness or injury if the employee has sick leave available for such purposes.

Personal leave shall not accrue from one calendar year to the next year. If personal leave is not taken in any calendar year, any unused personal leave shall be converted to sick time. An employee who is terminated or resigns from employment will not be compensated for any accrued personal leave at the time of termination or resignation.

ARTICLE XII MATERNITY LEAVE

The granting of leaves of absence without pay for maternity reasons shall be subject to Civil Service provisions. Upon expiration of an approved leave of absence, or earlier if so requested by an employee, such employee shall be reinstated in the position held at the time the leave was granted, if approved by Civil Service.

It is agreed that whenever a female Emergency Medical Technician shall become pregnant, she shall furnish the Department Head with a certificate from her physician stating the approximate date of her delivery. She may continue to work so long as her physician certifies that she is able to do so, provided that the Department Head does not find her work performance impaired. Disabilities caused or contributed to by pregnancy, miscarriage, abortion, childbirth and recovery therefrom are, for all job-related purposes, are temporary disabilities and should be treated as such under the sick leave provisions of this Agreement. Sick leave policy shall be applied to disability due to pregnancy or childbirth on the same terms and conditions as they are applied to other disabilities, provided that nothing in this Article shall restrict a female employee from requesting leave of absence without pay under the provisions of General Laws, Chapter 31. It is further agreed that those female employees of the department who are pregnant and request inside work after the second trimester will be accommodated and the Department Head will assign said employee to any position or duties in any work schedule at the sole discretion of the Director. Call people will be used to fill the vacancy created by the employee.

ARTICLE XIII JURY PAY

In the event a City employee is called to appear for jury duty or is serving on a jury, the employee shall be excused from working his/her daily shift during the same twenty-four (24) hour work period as the jury service occurs. The employee should be compensated at the same pay rate as he/she normally receives for working a full shift.

ARTICLE XIV CLASSIFICATION AND COMPENSATION PLAN

SECTION 1.

The pay schedule shall be amended as follows:

Delete Steps 1 through 3 for all grades, retaining steps 4 through 7 on the schedule, upon implementation of this agreement (July 25, 2019).

July 1, 2019 – 1% July 1, 2020 – 1%

Effective July 1, 2019, employees serving in full-time Paramedic positions, who have held a full-time position in the New Bedford Emergency Medical Services Department, for not less than four (4) consecutive years (including time served as a full-time Basic EMT), as of July 1, shall receive an annual retention stipend in the amount of \$2,000, to be paid on the first pay period during the month of August.

Effective July 1, 2019, employees serving in full-time Basic positions, who have held a full-time position in the New Bedford Emergency Medical Services Department for not less than four (4) consecutive years, as of July 1, shall receive an annual retention stipend in the amount of \$1,000, to be paid during the month of August.

All other employees will continue to advance through the steps on their anniversary date until they achieve the top step.

See EMS Classification and Compensation Plan attached hereto as Attachment A

Employees shall be paid bi-weekly and are required to sign up for direct deposit.

SECTION 2.

On original appointment, all employees shall be paid at the minimum rate for the pay grade to which the appointment is made. Advancement from the minimum to the maximum rate within a salary grade shall be by annual step rate increases.

Upon the certification by a Department Head to the Mayor that qualified applicants cannot be secured at the minimum salary prescribed for a position, the Mayor may authorize payment of initial compensation above the minimum but not exceeding the maximum of the salary grade for such position. Whenever such recruitment is authorized, all employees in the same class being paid at a rate below such recruitment rate shall be advanced to the recruitment rate of the salary schedule.

SECTION 3.

Full-time employees shall be granted step rate increases upon completion of each year of creditable service effective on the first day of the bi-weekly payroll period in which such service is completed; provided that no step rate increase shall be granted if the Department Head of an employee eligible for such step rate increase recommends to the Mayor, in writing with reasons therefore and with a copy to the employee, that a step rate increase is not warranted or justified upon review of the employee's performance. The decision of the Mayor to grant or disapprove a step rate increase shall be subject to the grievance and arbitration procedure. Creditable service shall be based on a period of fifty-two (52) weeks of work.

SECTION 4.

Senior Paramedics and Paramedics in the Emergency Medical Services shall continue to receive the (\$.20) differential presently paid for such assignments.

SECTION 5.

On promotion or change to a classification in a higher pay grade, an employee shall receive the next higher step rate for the classification to which the change has been made above his/her current rate.

SECTION 6.

Individual employees shall have the right to appeal the propriety of the classification of his/her position through the Personnel Director. In order to appeal a classification, the individual employee must establish, to the satisfaction of the Union and Personnel Director, one or more of the following reasons for appeal:

- a. A material change in duties and responsibilities.
- b. A reorganization of departmental operations causing a change in duties, responsibilities and accountability.
- c. The introduction of new technologies of work processes that required the training and/or improvements in the skills of an employee.
- d. A material change in the working conditions of an employee.

The City and Union agree that the procedure provided in this section shall be the sole procedure for individual appeals and such appeal may not be the subject of a grievance or arbitration under Article III. Nothing in this section shall be construed to prevent an employee from filing a grievance under Article XXVII – Working Out of Classification.

SECTION 7.

Regular full-time employees who are required to use their personal automobile for official purposes on a daily basis shall be compensated by the City at a rate of five dollars and fifty (\$5.50) per day for the first two hundred fifty (250) miles per week and thirty-one and one-half cents (.315¢) per mile for all travel in excess of two hundred fifty (250) miles per week thereafter.

ARTICLE XV LONGEVITY

Each employee will be entitled to the following payments, based on his/her continuous length of service and longevity in any City department, provided that in the case of a School Department employee, the employee shall have resigned from the School Department for the purpose of accepting employment with another department of the City of New Bedford.

Employees with the required number of years of service as of November 30 of the calendar year shall receive longevity based on the following chart:

Longevity Amount
\$ 450.00
\$ 550.00
\$ 650.00
\$ 750.00
\$ 850.00
\$ 1,000.00

The above payment will be paid in a lump sum on the second pay period in December of each year.

Employees who retire on or after January 1 in a calendar year shall be paid their full longevity increment for the year of retirement. The increment shall be at the amount paid the previous November 30. Employees who resign or who are terminated for cause prior to November 30 of a calendar year shall not be entitled to longevity payment at the time of their resignation or termination for cause.

The above payment will be paid to an employee's beneficiary upon his/her death.

Employees who are not on the payroll due to industrial leave of accident on the second Thursday in December will not receive longevity on that day. They will be entitled to longevity payment when they return from industrial leave and this longevity will be prorated if they have been on industrial accident leave for a total of twenty (20) working days during the twelve months preceding November 30 of each year.

ARTICLE XVI HOLIDAYS

SECTION 1.

The City agrees to provide the following paid holidays:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King Day
Washington's Birthday
Patriots Day
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Columbus Day
Veterans Day
Thanksgiving Day
The Friday following Thanksgiving
Christmas Day

SECTION 2.

Full time permanent or provisional employees who have been employed by the City for thirty (30) days or more shall receive eight (8) hours of holiday pay at their regular straight time hourly rate for each of said holidays.

SECTION 3.

In addition to the regular holidays stated above, employees shall receive four (4) hours of holiday pay, at their regular straight time hourly rate, for the following half holidays: Good Friday, Christmas Eve and New Year's Eve.

SECTION 4.

When any of the above named holidays occur on an employee's regularly scheduled workday, employees who are required to work on such holidays shall receive holiday pay for such day plus straight time for all hours worked on such day. Notwithstanding the previous sentence, an employee whose regularly scheduled work day includes scheduled overtime hours, shall be compensated at his or her overtime rate of pay for the scheduled overtime hours and, if applicable, any mandated overtime. The Employee may elect an eight (8) hour floating holiday in lieu of holiday pay. Use of said floating holiday shall be subject to Department Head approval, e.g. can't use overtime, must use in same fiscal year. Notice of the option by the employee to elect a floating holiday, in lieu of holiday pay must be given to the employer prior to submission of the payroll for the week including the holiday. Employees who are not regularly scheduled to work on a holiday and who are called in on said holiday shall receive eight (8) hours of holiday pay for such day, plus time and one-half (1½) their regular hourly rate, with a minimum of three (3) hours for all hours worked on such day.

SECTION 5.

In the event that a holiday listed in Section 1 falls on a Sunday and is observed and celebrated on a Monday, said Monday shall be construed to be the holiday for purposes of compensating any employee for holiday pay. In the event the holiday falls on a Saturday, the City may, at its option, grant compensatory time in lieu of holiday pay by observing the holiday on the immediately preceding Friday.

SECTION 6.

In order for an employee to receive his holiday pay for the holiday or half holiday, he or she must work his regular scheduled day before and after the holiday, unless he or she is on vacation leave or is on a regular scheduled day off. In the event an employee is absent due to illness on the last scheduled workday prior to or after a holiday, eligibility for holiday pay shall be established by the presentation of a doctor's statement certifying the legitimacy of the illness. Employees who have reported for work and actually work for more than one-half (½) their regular hours on the schedule work day before a holiday will not be required to present a

certificate for holiday pay eligibility. Employees who are scheduled to work on a holiday and report sick on said holiday shall be entitled to holiday pay only and shall not be paid for a sick day in addition to their holiday pay.

ARTICLE XVII PROTECTION

The City shall hold the employee harmless from any loss or liability arising out of acts resulting in accidental bodily injury to or the death of any person or accidental damage to or destruction of property, provided that, after investigation, it shall appear to the City that such employee was acting within the scope of his employment and provided further than simple or no negligence can be associated with the employee's act. The employee is expected to exercise all reasonable care and precautions to prevent undesirable consequences from arising as a result of the performance of his duties.

If any employee is required by the City to wear protective clothing or any type of protective device, such clothing or device shall be furnished by the City to protect the employee from illness or injuries. The foregoing shall not require the City to furnish additional work clothing or other articles of personal wearing apparel, which may be required other than those now being furnished by the City.

The City shall provide an annual physical examination, including x-rays, to Emergency Medical Technicians at no cost to the employees.

There shall be a joint committee on safety to be composed of two (2) representatives from the City and two (2) union representatives. The committee shall meet quarterly and make recommendations to the Mayor on conditions of health and safety of employees. Under emergency situations, the committee may meet to investigate conditions that are considered to be hazardous to employees.

Effective July 25, 2019, EMT clothing allowance is \$750 provided the voucher system will be continued within the department.

Glasses or dentures broken by an employee in the performance of his job shall be replaced by the City without cost to the employee.

During the term of this agreement, the department and the union shall meet to discuss the uniform, allowance and the best mode of payment of this allowance (cash or voucher).

ARTICLE XVIII NO STRIKE

Except for the right to strike, which is prohibited, all other union activities are protected unless they have been or are determined to be illegal by a court of competent jurisdiction or state tribunal.

ARTICLE XIX VACATIONS

Any new full time permanent or provisional employee hired in the preceding year shall receive a prorated amount of vacation time based on the time he/she actually worked in the previous year. For example, if an employee is hired in the month of January, he/she shall receive forty (40) hours of vacation time on July 1. Each full-time employee who has five (5) or more, but less than ten (10) years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall receive one hundred and twenty hours of vacation with pay during that fiscal year. Each full-time employee who has ten (10) or more years but less than twenty (20) years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall receive one hundred and sixty (160) hours of vacation with pay during that fiscal year. Each full time employee who has twenty (20) or more years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year. Each full-time employee who has twenty-five (25) or more years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year. Each full-time employee who has twenty-five (25) or more years of vacation with pay during that fiscal year. Each full-time employee who has thirty (30) or more years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year. Each full-time employee who has thirty (30) or more years of service as of June 30 of the fiscal year shall receive two hundred and forty (240) hours of vacation with pay during that fiscal year.

Employees who have had previous service with the New Bedford School Department and whose employment was based on academic or school year, rather than a calendar year, shall, upon transfer or appointment to permanent employment in another City department, be given credit for such time as they worked in the School Department for purposes of vacation eligibility as follows:

- a. Completion of twelve (12) months of service shall be considered a vacation leave credit and said service shall determine the eligibility for vacation benefits normally attendant upon completion of one (1) calendar year of service for full-time employees.
- b. Completion of sixty (60) months of service shall considered as vacation leave credit and said service shall determine the eligibility for vacation benefits normally attendant upon completion of five (5) calendar years of service for full-time employees.
- c. Completion of one hundred twenty (120) months of service shall be considered as vacation leave credit and said service shall determine the eligibility for vacation benefits normally attendant upon completion of ten (10) calendar years of service for full-time employees.

SECTION 2.

Vacation leave earned in any one (1) year shall not be permitted to accumulate or carry over to a succeeding year, except if an employee is ordered or requested to forego or postpone vacation leave in the public interest and thereby is prevented from taking vacation leave in any one year within the period of July 1 to June 30, such employee may be granted compensatory

vacation leave during the next year by his/her Appointing Authority or Department Head, if said request is made before expiration of the vacation year and has approval of the Mayor and notification of said request is filed with the City Auditor immediately.

SECTION 3.

Employees who are eligible for vacation under this Article whose service is terminated by dismissal through no fault or delinquency of their own, by resignation or by retirement, or any entrance into the armed forces, shall be paid the amount equal to the vacation allowance as earned in the vacation year prior to such dismissal, resignation, retirement or entrance into the armed forces, which had not been granted, and in addition, that portion of the vacation allowance earned in the vacation year during which such dismissal, resignation, retirement or entrance into the armed forces occurred, up to the time of separation; provided that no monetary or other allowance has already been made therefore.

SECTION 4.

Employees whose services are terminated through dismissal for cause shall be entitled to salary in lieu of their vacation not taken.

SECTION 5.

Employees who are reinstated or who are re-employed, or who return from a leave of absence without pay shall be entitled to their vacation status at the termination of their previous service and allowed such proportion of their vacation under Section 1 as their actual service bears to full-time for the vacation year. No credit for previous service may be allowed where reinstatement or re-employment occurs after absence of two (2) years.

SECTION 6.

Vacation shall not accrue to an employee absent on industrial accident leave for one year or more.

SECTION 7.

Vacation leave earned following a return to duty after leave of absence without pay shall not be applied against such leave or absence.

SECTION 8.

If an employee is on industrial accident leave and has available vacation credits which have not been used, and who, because of the provisions of Section 2 of this Article, would lose such vacation credits, said employee shall be paid for any vacation time that is outstanding at the end of a fiscal year or shall be allowed to apply to the Mayor to carry over that vacation time to a succeeding year.

SECTION 9.

Upon the death of an employee who is eligible for vacation leave under the provisions of this Article, payment shall be made in an amount equal to the vacation allowance as earned in the vacation year prior to the employee's death, but which had not been granted, and in addition, that portion of the vacation allowance earned in the vacation year during which the employee died up to the time of the separation from the payroll; provided that no monetary or other allowance has already been made therefore.

SECTION 10.

Absences on account of sickness in excess of that authorized under sick leave regulations may, at the option of the employee, be charged to vacation leave.

SECTION 11.

The City shall issue vacation slips to employees no later than the third week of February each calendar year. Wherever practicable, vacation will be given at the time most desired by the employee, who will be permitted to indicate his/her choice by order of seniority, provided he/she does so by April 1 in each calendar year. When all requests have been received and approved, the vacation schedule listing the employee's name and the vacation periods granted shall be posted in each department by May 1 of each year. The head of each department, however, reserves the right to schedule vacations or limit the number of weeks in the current year at such time, in his/her opinion, as will cause the least interference with the performance of regular work and will not cause additional expense. Employees shall retain the right to change previously approved vacation periods if they so choose, and such changes may be approved, provided they do not impair departmental efficiency or departmental operations or cause additional expense. Once the vacation schedule has been posted, however, any employee wishing to change his/her vacation period may select from among any of the open periods thereof subject to the two preceding sentences. He/She may also select a period already chosen by another employee provided such choice does not exceed the number of employees who can be spared at that time nor shall he/she be allowed to select a period which would force an employee with less seniority to forego his/her approved vacation period. No employee whose vacation selection has been approved and posted shall be required to cancel such selection in order to accommodate a vacation change requested by an employee with greater seniority. Employees who are on vacation for their entire tour of duty during a thirty-six (36) hour week shall be charged thirty-six (36) hours of vacation leave and employees who are on vacation for their entire tour of duty during a forty-eight (48) hour week shall be charged forty (40) hours of vacation leave for the week.

SECTION 12.

No employee shall be granted vacation leave until he/she is eligible therefore under the provisions of this Article. Vacation leave shall not be granted in anticipation of service, provided that an employee may commence his/her vacation prior to July 1 if said vacation time extends beyond July1 of the vacation year.

SECTION 13.

The rate of pay for any employee while on the status of vacation leave shall be the rate of pay for the primary classification of such employee. For those employees having a secondary classification, the rate of pay shall be based on the classification in which the employee actually worked, exclusive of overtime, for a minimum of twelve hundred (1200) hours in the aggregate during the twelve (12) months preceding the first day of July of the vacation year.

SECTION 14.

Nothing herein shall be construed as restricting an employee from requesting individual vacation days on short notice, provided that in the opinion of the Department Head, departmental operations are not thereby hindered. Vacation shall not be taken in less than one hour increments.

ARTICLE XX BULLETIN BOARDS

The City shall permit access to or maintain boards in each work area where departmental employees begin and end their shifts for the posting of notices concerning union business and actions of the certified bargaining representative.

ARTICLE XXI SPECIAL PROVISIONS APPLYING TO EMPLOYEES COVERED BY AGREEMENT

SECTION 1.

Employees covered by this Agreement, may, with the Mayor's approval, be given leave without loss of pay for the purpose of attending a meeting or seminar, which pertains to their field of work. Employees attending such a meeting or seminar with the Mayor's approval shall be entitled to reimbursement of expenses.

SECTION 2.

Each employee covered by this Agreement shall be entitled, with the approval of the Mayor, to receive a leave of absence without pay and benefits for the purpose of furthering his/her education in his/her field of work.

SECTION 3.

Whenever notices of courses of study, educational seminars, or other programs of similar nature have been approved by the Mayor which employees are expected or required to participate or attend in order to maintain proficiency and/or qualifications, such notices shall be posted in a conspicuous place. All employee affected thereby shall be given equal opportunity to

take advantage of same. Such opportunity shall be allowed without regard to whether employee participation is to be on City time or the employee's time.

SECTION 4.

Upon recommendation of the Department Head and approval of the Mayor, a permanent employee may be granted tuition reimbursement. The employee must enroll in a program, which in the judgment of the Mayor will lead to an appropriate degree or improved professional competence. Reimbursement will be for 50% of the course cost, not to exceed two (2) courses per school term. Prior to reimbursement, satisfactory completion of each course must be submitted where authorization for payment has been made. The stipend will be limited by budget appropriation.

SECTION 5.

The City agrees to reimburse an employee to a maximum of \$100 per year for the cost of courses approved by the Office of Emergency Medical Services (OEMS), Health Department, Commonwealth of Massachusetts, provided the courses are not offered by the City towards the employee's recertification under the requirements for additional continuing educational activities. Prior to reimbursement, the employee shall provide evidence that he/she has satisfactorily completed the course. Notwithstanding the provisions for reimbursement in this section, the City reserves the right to offer courses and programs for the necessary additional continuing educational activities to meet recertification requirements and to require employees to participate in said courses or programs in lieu of employees being reimbursed for courses.

Recertification Classes – the City will provide, at no cost to the employee, National Core Curriculum refresher (NCCR), all classes mandated by OEMS on an annual basis and any classes pertaining to any other topics that are developed as a result of the Q/A process

No compensation shall be paid for the above training in consideration of it being provided at no cost to the employee if such training occurs at a time in which the employee is not scheduled to work. The Union and Director of EMS will establish a training schedule for CPR training to be conducted during working hours.

SECTION 6.

The regular hours of Senior Paramedics, Paramedics and Basics shall be thirty-six (36) or forty-eight (48) hours per week in accordance with the schedule established effective July 1, 2016. See EMS Rotating Shift Schedule attached hereto as Attachment B.

SECTION 7.

FITNESS FOR DUTY

- a. EMS employees are expected to keep themselves in a physical, mental, and emotional condition as required to safely, properly, and effectively perform their duties and responsibilities contained within the respective job description.
- b. In the event the EMS supervisor through observation and/or other information makes a determination that the EMS employee does not meet the criteria stated in 8(a) above he or she may place the employee on sick leave until such time as the employee provides satisfactory medical documentation supporting his or her fitness to return to full duty.
- c. Nothing in this section shall prohibit the City from exercising its rights under the American with Disabilities Act to require an EMS employee to undergo a medical or psychological evaluation if the City reasonably believes that the employee is having medical or mental health issues that may affect his or her job or the safety of the employee and/or the public.

ARTICLE XXII MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, the City retains all rights of management, including the right to direct employees, to hire, classify, promote, train, transfer, assign and retain employees and to suspend, demote, discharge or take other disciplinary action against employees for just cause; to relieve employees from duty because of lack of work, lack of funds, or for causes beyond the City's control; to provide uniforms and equipment when required, to determine organization and budget, to maintain the efficiency of the operations entrusted to the City and to determine the methods, technology, means and personnel by which such operations are to be conducted, including contracting and subcontracting; similarly, to take whatever action may be necessary regardless of prior commitments to carry out the responsibilities of the City in an emergency or any unforeseen combination of circumstances which calls for immediate action. The City and its management officials have the right to make reasonable rules and regulations pertaining to employees consistent with this Agreement. The City agrees, however, pursuant to the above, that whenever it wishes to transfer an employee from a position identified under Unit C of said plan, it will notify the Union at least thirty (30) days before such transfer is planned to take place.

When a new position is to be established by the City within the scope of Unit B of the above-mentioned Classification and Compensation Plan, the City agrees to notify the Union of its intent prior to the establishment of said position, for the purpose of negotiating hours, wages and such other working conditions as may be required after consultation with the Union.

ARTICLE XXIII CONTRACT PROVISIONS

The parties agree that all negotiable items have been discussed during the negotiations leading to this Agreement, and therefore, agree that negotiations will not be reopened on any item, whether contained herein or not, during the life of this Agreement. All terms and

conditions of employment not covered nor abridged by this Agreement shall continue to be subject to the City's exclusive direction and control, and shall not be subject to negotiation during the life of this Agreement. The City shall reimburse the Union for fifty (50%) percent of the cost of printing and make available to the Personnel Department sixty (60) copies of the contract.

This Agreement cannot be changed, altered or modified, except in writing, signed by both parties, which writing shall be considered as an addendum to this Agreement.

ARTICLE XXIV WORKING OUT OF CLASSIFICATION

Whenever an employee covered by this Agreement is required by the Department Head or his designee in writing or under standard operating procedures to perform the duties normally performed by an employee of a higher grade or classification in his/her department for more than four (4) hours in any given shift, said employee shall be paid at the higher grade and at the next step rate above his/her current position. Except as otherwise provided in Article V, employees may elect to refuse to perform duties in a higher classification.

ARTICLE XXV MISCELLANEOUS ARTICLE

SECTION 1.

The Employer will reimburse the employees for special license fees used in the performance of his/her job.

SECTION 2.

- A. An employee not otherwise scheduled to work who is a witness on behalf of the Commonwealth in a criminal matter pending in any Court of the Commonwealth, as approved by his or her department head or who is required by official summons or subpoena to testify on matters which are related to his/her official duties shall be entitled to and shall receive compensation for all hours in attendance, with a minimum of three (3) hours at a time and one-half of his/her rate of pay.
- B. An employee not otherwise scheduled to work who attends as a witness on behalf of the City in a matter pending before any Court or administrative body of the Commonwealth, as approved by his or her department head, shall receive compensation for all hours in attendance, with a minimum of three (3) hours at a time and one-half of his/her rate of pay.
- C. It shall be the policy of the City to recommend to the person who requests that an employee appear in any Civil Court or Agency Hearing in the Commonwealth in any matter related to his or her department or to the performance of his/her duties shall be paid by the person making the request which payment shall be no less than his/her regular rate of pay.

SECTION 3.

All members of the bargaining unit are subject to CORI screening in accordance with the agreement attached hereto effective on the date of execution of the collective bargaining agreement. See Attachment C.

SECTION 4.

The parties agree that Global Position System (GPS) may be activated in City vehicles assigned to employees. The parties agree that information acquired by and preserved with the GPS system shall not be the sole source of information used to impose discipline or evaluate any employee.

SECTION 1.

Employees may be temporarily assigned to light duty in accordance with Attachment E." (attached)

ARTICLE XXVI PERFORMANCE EVALUATION

SECTION 1.

In accordance with the provisions of Chapter 767 of the Acts of 1981, there shall be established a performance evaluation system for all employees covered by this Agreement.

SECTION 2.

All employee evaluations shall be in writing and shall be included in the employee's official personnel file.

SECTION 3.

Evaluations shall be completed by the employee's immediate supervisor and approved by the employee's Department Head or designee.

SECTION 4.

Formal evaluations shall be completed at least once per year for each employee but not more than twice per year.

SECTION 5.

Prior to each evaluation period, the supervisor shall meet with the employee and shall inform him/her of the general performance dimensions and procedures to be utilized in evaluating the employee's performance.

SECTION 6.

At the mid-point in the evaluation period, the supervisor shall meet with the employee to review the employee's progress.

SECTION 7.

At the end of the evaluation period, the supervisor shall meet with the employee and inform the employee of the results of the evaluation. The employee shall sign the evaluation and indicate whether he/she agrees or disagrees with the evaluation. If the employee does not agree with the evaluation, he/she has 48 working hours to sign with comments.

SECTION 8.

Any employee, who, as a result of an evaluation pursuant to this Agreement, receives an overall rating of "Requires Improvement", shall have the right to grieve said rating through Step 3 of the grievance procedure. In the event the employee is not satisfied with the grievance response, the employee may file, through Local 851, AFSCME, a request for review of the Step 3 determination. This review shall be conducted by a triparte panel, one person designated by the Director of Labor Relations and Personnel and one person by Local 851, AFSCME, who shall select a third person. In the event the parties are unable to agree, the American Arbitration Association shall be requested to submit a panel of arbitrators pursuant to the rules of the Association.

SECTION 9.

The standard of review to be applied by the panel shall be whether the evaluation rating is arbitrary or discriminatory or whether it is clearly erroneous. The decision of the panel shall be final and binding. The cost of arbitration shall be shared equally between the City and Local 851, AFSCME.

SECTION 10.

The appeal procedures provided in this Agreement shall not be available to any employee who elects to appeal his/her evaluation rating under the provisions of G.L. Chapter 31, Section 6C.

ARTICLE XXVII LABOR-MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

SECTION 1.

The City agrees to establish an EMS Labor-Management Committee, the Director or his/her designee will meet with the union steward and one other member for the purpose of

discussing work-related concerns/issues. The Union agrees that prior to each meeting, it will provide the Director with a written list of the topics it wishes to discuss.

SECTION 2.

The Committee shall meet at least quarterly. Such meeting shall not be for the purpose of discussing pending grievances or for the purpose of conducting negotiations on any subject. The topics discussed shall relate to the general application of this Agreement and to other matters of mutual concern, including improvement of employer/employee relations, health and safety, and improvement of productivity.

ARTICLE XXVIII RESIDENCY

Every person first employed by the City of New Bedford on or after September 1, 1978 in the bargaining unit shall be a resident of New Bedford. An employee subject to this residency policy who has completed three (3) full years (36 months) of full or equivalent part-time service with the City of New Bedford may reside in the following towns: Dartmouth, Fairhaven, Acushnet, Freetown, Westport, Lakeville, Rochester, Mattapoisett, Swansea, Somerset, Seekonk, Marion, Wareham, or the City of Fall River.

ARTICLE XXIX DRUG TESTING

DRUG/ALCOHOL TESTING

- 1. All employees hired after March 30, 2000 who operate motor vehicles on a regular basis as a condition of employment shall be subject to drug and alcohol testing under policies adopted by the City (See Attachment D).
- 2. All employees hired before March 30, 2000 who operate motor vehicles on a regular basis as a condition of employment who have been involved in a motor vehicle accident in which the City has been held liable or has settled a claim shall be subject to drug and alcohol testing on the basis of reasonable suspicion or cause for twenty-four (24) consecutive months from the date of payment.
 - A driver shall submit to testing, upon reasonable cause, when requested to do so by the City.
 - The conduct must be witnessed by at least two supervisors and/or a witness, if feasible. If not feasible, only one supervisor or witness need witness the conduct. The witness or witnesses must have received training in the identification of actions, appearance or conduct of a driver, which are indicative of the use of a controlled substance or alcohol.

- The documentation of the driver's conduct shall be prepared and signed by the witnesses within twenty-four (24) hours of the observed behavior or before the results of the test are released, whichever is earlier.
- "Reasonable or suspicious cause" means that the City believes that the actions, appearance or conduct of an on-duty driver are indicative of the use of a controlled substance or alcohol. The witness(es) must directly observe the behavior. Hearsay or second-hand information is not sufficient cause to require a driver to submit to a drug/alcohol test.
- Once a reasonable or suspicious cause determination is made, it is the responsibility of the City to assure that the driver under suspicion is transported to a specimen collection site to provide a urine sample.

ARTICLE XXX TERM AND EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

This Agreement shall be in full force and effect for the term beginning the first day of July 2019 and ending the thirtieth day of June 2021. It shall continue in effect from year to year thereafter unless either party shall notify the other in writing at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the term, or at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of any subsequent yearly period, that it desires to modify this Agreement. In the event that such notice is given, negotiations shall begin no later than thirty (30) days prior to the end of the yearly term then in effect; this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect during the period of negotiations and until notice of termination of this Agreement is provided to the other party in the manner set forth in the following paragraph:

In the event that either party desires to terminate the Agreement, written notice must be given the other party not less than ten (10) days prior to the desired termination date, which date shall not be before the end of the last completed yearly term of this Agreement.

In the event that any Article or Provision of this Agreement conflicts with the provisions of any statute or law of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, the latter shall prevail unless otherwise provided in Chapter 150E.

In the event that any Article or Provision of this Agreement conflicts with the provisions of any ordinance, department rule or regulations, or executive order of the City of New Bedford, said Article or Provision of this Agreement shall be given effect during the term of this Agreement.

In every instance in which a particular condition of employment is not specifically dealt with and covered by this Agreement, the ordinance, rule, regulation, practice or custom governing or effective with regard to said condition of employment as of the date of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Should any provision of this Agreement be found to be in violation of any Federal or State law, or Civil Service Rule by a court of

competent jurisdiction, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect for the duration of this Agreement.

their duly authorized representatives on	to have caused these present to be signed by
AFSCME, Council 93, Local 851 By:	CITY OF NEW BEDFORD By:
all:	
Andrew Lavoie, Shop Steward	Jonathan Mitchell, Mayor
	Mikaela A. McDermott,
	City Solicitor
Kim Sylvia, Staff Representative	Jane Medeiros Friedman, First Assistant City Solicitor

ATTACHMENT A

EMS SALARY SCHEDULE

JULY 1, 2019 (1%)

STEPS

GRADE	1	2	3	4
1 (Basics)	\$16.21	\$17.11	\$18.04	\$19.31
2 (Paramedics)	\$24.17	\$26.12	\$27.95	\$29.91
3 (Senior Paramedics)	\$25.61	\$27.68	\$29.62	\$31.69



EMS SALARY SCHEDULE

JULY 1, 2020 (1%)

STEPS

GRADE	1	2	3	4
1 (Basics)	\$16.37	\$17.28	\$18.22	\$19.50
2 (Paramedics)	\$24.41	\$26.38	\$28.23	\$30.21
3 (Senior Paramedics)	\$25.87	\$27.96	\$29.92	\$32.01





City of New Bedford Department of Emergency Medical Services 181 Hillman Street, Bldg. 4 New Bedford, Massachusetts 02740 508-9916390 Fax 508-991-6238



EMS SHIFT PROPOSAL, ROTATING

- NBEMS would operate 5 medic units
- Medic 1,2 and 3 will be 24/7 trucks
- Medic 4 will be a 12 hr truck 7 days a week
- Medic 5 will be a 12 hr truck 4 days a week

Medics 1,2 and 3

Medics that bid for these trucks will work a 12 hour shift in the following rotation:

Day 1: 7am-7pm

Day 2: 7pm -7am

Day 3: OFF

Day 4: 7am-7pm

Day 5: 7pm-7am

Day 6, 7 and 8: OFF

Repeat

Medic 4

Day 1: 7am-7pm

Day 2: 7am-7pm

Day 3: 7am-7pm

Day 4: 7am-7pm

Day 5, 6, 7 and 8: OFF

Repeat

Medic 5

Day 1: 12pm-12am

Day 2: 12pm-12am

Day 3: OFF

Day 4: 12pm-12am

Day 5: 12pm-12am

Day 6, 7, and 8: OFF

Repeat



SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY
	1	2	3 -	4	5	6
70.0	8	9	10	11	12	13
14	15	16	- 17	18	19	20
21	22	23	24	25	26	27
28	29					
MARCH SHIF	T SCHEDULE	1	2	3	4	5
6	7	8	9	10	11	12
13	14	15	16	17	18	19
20	21	22	23	24	25	26
27	28	29	30	31		

	Legend	
All S	Shifts are 12 hours.	
Day	Shift	
Nig	ht Shift	
Day	Off	To the second



PROPOSED ROTATING SCHEDULE FOR MEDIC 4

SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY
	1	2	3	4	5	6
7	8	9	10	11	12	13
14	15	16	17	18	19	20
21	22	23	24	25	26	27
28	29					Carlos March
MARCH SHIF	T SCHEDULE	1	2	3	4	5
6	7	8	9	10	11	12
13	14	15	16	17	18	19
20	21	22	23	24	25	26
27	28	29	30	31		

Lege	nd
All Shifts are 12	nours.
Day Shift	
Night Shift	
Day Off	



PROPOSED ROTATING SCHEDULE FOR MEDIC 5

SUNDAY	MONDAY	TUESDAY	WEDNESDAY	THURSDAY	FRIDAY	SATURDAY
	1	2	3	4	-5	6
7	.8	9	10	11	12	13
14	15	16	17	18	19	20
21	22	23	24	-25	26	27
28	29					The second second
MARCH SHIF	T SCHEDULE	1 ,	2	3	4	5
6	7	8	9	10	11	12
13	14	15	-16	17	18	19
20	-21	22	23	24	25	26
27	28	-29	30	31		The second secon

	Legend
(All S	hifts are 12 hours.)
Day S	hift - 4 HOURS
Night	Shift - 8 HOURS
Day 0	Mr.



AGREEMENT CORI CHECKS

This agreement is entered into on Opollo, 2015 by and between the City of New Bedford and Local 851, Council 93, AFSCME.

WHEREAS the City of New Bedford is authorized by DCJIS and M.G.L. Chapter 6, Section 172 to conduct criminal history screening of prospective and current employees, subcontractors, volunteers and interns; and

WHEREAS M.G.L. Chapter 150E, Section 6 requires the employer to bargain about terms and conditions of employment.

NOW THEREFORE in consideration of the promises contained herein, the City and Local 851 AFSCME hereby agree to the following terms and conditions:

- 1. All members of the bargaining unit are subject to CORI screening in the following categories:
 - The City may receive CORI pertaining to conviction and pending criminal case data for the purpose of screening current and otherwise qualified prospective paramedic staff and volunteers who transport the infirm, deal directly with patients and/or distribute narcotics.
 - The City may access and receive conviction and pending case CORI for the
 purpose of screening current or otherwise qualified prospective staff who may
 enter private residences while on municipal business and/or have the opportunity
 for direct contact with children, disabled persons, or the elderly, such as parks,
 recreational facilities.
 - The City may access and receive conviction and pending case CORI for the purpose of screening current or otherwise qualified prospective staff of the library who may have direct and unmonitored contact with children.
 - The City may access information on employees in municipal departments who provide medical, psychological and/or rehabilitative services and may receive CORI pertaining to conviction and pending criminal case data for the purpose of screening current and otherwise qualified prospective professionals, staff and volunteers who have the potential for unmonitored access to clients/patients and confidential records.

Attachment C

D

- 2. CORI check cannot take place unless the employee signs the required CORI Acknowledgement Form. If an employee refuses to sign the form, he/she will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including dismissal. The Union will be notified, and a meeting will take place to try and resolve the issue, however, the City reserves the right to take whatever steps deemed necessary to comply with the law in this regard.
- 3. The personnel who are authorized to request, access and review CORI are the Personnel Director and the CORI Clerk. It may, on occasion be necessary for a member of the Personnel Department clerical staff to access CORI information in the absence of the CORI Clerk, all of whom have been trained in accordance with law. A trained, designated Assistant City Solicitor may also review CORI.
- 4. Procedures to be followed when the subject of a CORI check challenges the accuracy of the CORI are as follows: (a) the employee will be provided with a copy of the CORI and is responsible to check his/her CORI information; (b) it will then be the responsibility of the individual to challenge the information directly to the DCJIS.
- 5. CORI checks will be kept in a secure file in the Personnel Department, separate from the personnel file.
- 6. Under circumstances where the results of the CORI calls into question an employee's suitability for continued employment, the individual, with union representation, will meet with the Personnel Director or her designee to determine continued employment in accordance with the attached CORI Policy.
- 7. Unless otherwise provided by law, factors considered in determining suitability may include, but not be limited to, the following:
 - (a) Relevance of the record to the positions;
 - (b) The nature of the work:
 - (c) time since the conviction;
 - (d) Age at the time of the offense;
 - (e) Seriousness and specific circumstances of the offense;
 - (f) The number of offenses;
 - (g) Whether the employee has pending charges;
 - (h) Any relevant evidence of rehabilitation or lack thereof; and
 - (i) Any other relevant information, including information submitted by the employee.

The employee is to be notified of the decision and the basis for it in a timely manner.

8. CORI is not subject to the public records law and may not be disseminated to unauthorized persons. CORI may always be shared with the individuals to whom it pertains.

Executed in duplicate as an instrument under seal on the date and year herein set forth.



AFSCME, Local 851 Council 93

De Sugar

Jonathan T. Marchell, Mayor

City of New Bedford

Mikaela A. McDermott, City Solicitor

ATTACHMENT D

CITY OF NEW BEDFORD

DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING POLICY FOR EMPLOYEES IN POSITIONS REQUIRING A COMMERCIAL DRIVER'S LICENSE (CDL) AND WHICH ARE DEFINED AS SAFETY-SENSITIVE

POLICY

It is the policy of the City of New Bedford to ensure that its employees are provided a safe and healthful workplace for the conduct of City business and that they are not impaired by alcohol and/or drug abuse. In keeping with this policy, employees are required to report to work fit for duty and to refrain from activities during the work day which would impair their abilities to perform their duties.

This policy provides for drug testing for five controlled substances (marijuana, cocaine, opiates, amphetamines and phencyclidine), as well as breath testing for alcohol. This policy is promulgated under the independent authority of the City of New Bedford and complies with the Department of Transportation regulations concerning drug and alcohol testing of those commercial driver's license (CDL) employees required to be tested under the applicable Federal regulations.

PROHIBITED CONDUCT

Conduct that is prohibited by this policy includes:

Reporting for duty with an alcohol concentration of 0.04 or greater. This constitutes grounds for immediate termination.

Possession of alcohol while on duty.

Use of alcohol while on duty.

Use of alcohol within four hours prior to reporting for duty.

Use of alcohol within eight hours following an accident if the accident involved the loss of human life, or if the operator received a citation under State or City law for a moving violation arising from the accident.

Refusal to submit to a required alcohol or controlled substance test, or tampering with samples offered at such a test.

Use or possession of controlled substances at any time except when the use is pursuant to the instructions of a physician who has advised the employee that the substance, does not adversely

P

affect the employee's ability to safely operate a commercial motor vehicle. Where there are legal differences in the requirements under the Omnibus Transportation Act and this policy, the Act takes precedence.

TESTING

The circumstances under which a CDL driver will be tested for alcohol and/or controlled substances under this policy are:

Pre-employment
Random
Reasonable suspicion
Post-accident
Return to duty/Follow-up

PROCEDURES

The procedures that will be used to test for the presence of alcohol and controlled substances, to protect the employee and the integrity of the testing process, to safeguard the validity of the test results, and to ensure that those results are attributed to the correct employee are as follows:

Testing will be conducted by trained personnel using procedures required by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

Testing and analysis will be conducted in conformance with the Federal Department of Transportation regulations, copies of which may be viewed in the Personnel Department.

Testing will be conducted in as private a manner as practical.

Although records maintained by the City of New Bedford will remain confidential, such records may be used in legal proceedings in defense of the City of New Bedford.

Testing is mandatory. The refusal to submit to any of the tests identified above will be considered a positive test result and result in termination.

PRE-EMPLOYMENT DRUG & ALCOHOL TESTING

Applicability

All persons making application with the City of new Bedford for positions which require a Commercial Driver's License. It also applies to all current City of New Bedford employees who seek a position which requires the CDL license.

Policy

It is a requirement of the Federal Department of Transportation that applicants who are hired into or employees who seek a promotion to a position with the City of New Bedford which requires a CDL license must submit to alcohol and controlled substances testing prior to assuming the duties of the position,

Procedures

As a result of such testing if the determination of either test is positive, the employee will be terminated. The employee will be referred to the Employee Assistance Program for evaluation and introduction into a program of treatment and counseling, which <u>may</u> lead to reinstatement under M.G.L. Chapter 31.

In order to be considered for reinstatement, the employee must have successfully completed the following:

Substance abuse evaluation
Rehabilitation, when necessary
A return-to-duty controlled substance and/or alcohol test

If either the return to duty controlled substance test is positive or the result of the alcohol test is 0.02 or above, the employee will not be considered for reinstatement. If the result of both tests are negative, the employee <u>may</u> be considered for reinstatement.

Refusal to submit to testing of breath and/or urine for alcohol and/or drugs is considered a positive result and will result in termination.

Should the employee dispute the positive result of a controlled substance test, he/she may request that a second test be performed on the split sample specimen. The test will be performed at the employee's expense, and payment in advance of the test will be required by the Contractor.

In those situations where an applicant for employment either refuses to be tested or tests positive, the conditional offer of employment by the City of New Bedford will be withdrawn.

RANDOM ALCOHOL AND DRUG TESTING

Applicability

All persons who hold a Commercial Driver's License (CDL), based upon job description requirements, including working out of class.

Policy

It is a requirement of the Federal Department of Transportation that these employees be subject to random alcohol and controlled substance testing.

If an employee subject to random testing has positive results on the alcohol test, he/she is not to be allowed to drive back to their home or to the workplace.

Procedures

When reporting for the testing employees must present their CDL license as their identification.

As the result of such testing if the determination of either test is positive, the following steps will be taken:

Alcohol Testing

If the screening alcohol test results in a breathalyzer reading above 0.02, the employee will be retested within 15-20 minutes. If the results of the confirmation alcohol test show a 0.020 - 0.039 breathalyzer reading the employee will be removed from safety sensitive duties for a minimum of 24 hours. The employee will be allowed to use any available accumulated sick, vacation or personal leave during the removal period and is subject to a return to duty test.

If the test confirmation result is 0.04 or higher blood alcohol level, the employee will be terminated and referred to the Employee Assistance Program for possible reinstatement as outlined on Page 3.

Controlled Substances

If the results of the controlled substances test are positive, the employee will be terminated and referred to the Employee Assistance Program as outlined on Page 3.



REASONABLE SUSPICION ALCOHOL AND DRUG TESTING

Applicability

All employees holding, a Commercial Driver's License.

Policy

It is a requirement of the Federal Department of Transportation that the above employees be subject to reasonable suspicion alcohol and drug testing

If an employee tests positive on the alcohol test or controlled substance test, he/she is not to be allowed to drive back home or to the workplace and will be terminated. The employee will be referred to the Employee Assistance Program as outlined on Page 3.

Procedures

An employee shall be required to submit to alcohol and drug testing when there is a reasonable suspicion that he/she is using, or is under the influence of a prohibited drug. Reasonable suspicion shall be based upon specific behavioral or performance indicators of probable prohibited alcohol and drug use.

When reporting for the testing, employees must present their CDL license as their identification.

As the result of such testing if the determination of either test is positive, the following steps will be taken:

Alcohol Testing

If the screening alcohol test results in a breathalyzer reading above 0.02, the employee will be retested within 20 minutes. If the confirming alcohol test results in a breathalyzer reading, of 0.02 - 0.039, the employee will be removed from safety sensitive duties for a minimum of 24 hours. The employee will be allowed to use any available accumulated sick, vacation or personal leave during the removal period and is subject to a return to duty test.

If the confirming test result is 0.04 or higher, the employee will be terminated and referred to the Employee Assistance Program as outlined on Page 3.

Controlled Substances

If the results of the controlled substances test are positive, the employee will be terminated and referred to the Employee Assistance Program as outlined on Page 3.



POST ACCIDENT ALCOHOL DRUG TESTING

Applicability

All employees holding a Commercial Driver's License.

Policy

It is a requirement of the Federal Department of Transportation that the above employees be subject to post-accident alcohol and drug testing under the following conditions:

- * When the accident has involved a fatality; or
- * When the accident results in a citation being issued to the employee; and either of the following occurs:
- (a) bodily injury has occurred to any party involved requiring,, medical attention away from the scene of the accident; or
- (b) one or more motor vehicles involved in the accident has sustained damage which requires one or more of the motor vehicles to be towed away.

If an employee tests positive on the alcohol test or controlled substance test, he/she is not allowed to drive back home or to the workplace.

Procedures

In all cases, all work-related activity being performed by City of New Bedford employees is to cease immediately. The driver of the vehicle is to be transported to the designated testing site. The driver is not to transport himself/herself to the testing, site in either a privately owned or City of New Bedford owned vehicle.

The driver is prohibited from consuming alcohol for eight hours following the accident, or until a post-accident alcohol test has been performed. When reporting for the testing, employees must present their CDL license as their identification. As the result of such testing if the determination of either test is positive, the following steps will be taken:

Alcohol Testing

If the screening alcohol test results in a breathalyzer reading above 0.02, the employee will be retested within 15-20 minutes. If the results of the confirmation alcohol test show a 0.02 - 0.039 breathalyzer reading, the employee will be removed from safety sensitive duties for a minimum of 24 hours. The employee will be allowed to use any available accumulated sick, vacation or personal leave during the removal period and is subject to a return to duty test.

If the test confirmation result is 0.04 or higher blood alcohol level, the employee will be terminated and referred to the Employee Assistance Program as outlined on Page 3.



Controlled Substances

If the result of the controlled substances test are positive, the employee will be terminated and referred to the Employee Assistance Pro gram for possible reinstatement as outlined on Page 3.

Should the employee dispute the positive result of a controlled substance test, he/she may request that a second test be performed on the split sample specimen. The test will be performed at the employee's expense, and payment in advance of the test will be required by the Contractor.

If the employee returns to work, he/she will again be subject to all aspects of alcohol and controlled substances testing under the Federal Department of Transportation rules. This will include follow-up testing as well as continued participation in the random testing pool.



ATTACHMENT E

TEMPORARY LIGHT DUTY

I. PURPOSE

It is the purpose of this policy to establish the authority for temporary light-duty assignments and procedures for granting temporary light duty to eligible employees.

II. POLICY

Temporary light-duty assignments, when available, are for employees who, because of injury or illness, are temporarily unable to perform their regular assignments. Therefore, it is the policy of the City of New Bedford that eligible personnel be given a reasonable opportunity to work in temporary light-duty assignments where available and consistent with this policy. This policy in no way affects the privileges of employees under the Family and Medical Leave Act or the American with Disabilities Act or other federal or state law.

III. <u>DEFINITIONS</u>

<u>Eligible Personnel</u>: For purposes of this policy, any full-time employee of the City suffering from medically certified illness or injury requiring treatment of a licensed health-care provider and who, because of injury or illness is temporarily unable to perform his/her regular assignment but is capable of performing alternative assignments is eligible for light duty in his/her department.

IV. PROCEDURES

A. GENERAL PROVISIONS

- 1. Light duty assignments are granted at the discretion of the of the department head after consultation with the Personnel Director. Employees on work related illness or injury shall be given preference for light duty assignments.
- 2. Decisions on temporary light-duty assignments shall be made based upon the availability of an appropriate assignment given the employee's knowledge, skills and abilities; availability of light-duty assignments; and the physical limitations imposed on the employee that includes an assessment of the nature and probable duration of the illness or injury, prognosis for recovery, nature of work restrictions and familiarity with the light-duty assignment and the fact that the employee can physically assume the duties involved as certified by a physician designated by the City at no cost to the employee.



- 3. Department heads shall notify the Personnel Department and the Union when a decision is made to assign light duty to an employee.
- 4. Assignment to temporary light duty shall not affect an employee's pay classification, pay increases, promotions, retirement benefits or other employee benefits.
- 5. No existing position shall be designated or utilized exclusively for personnel on temporary light duty.
- 6. Light duty assignments are strictly temporary and normally should not exceed six months in duration. After six months, employees on temporary light duty who are not capable of returning to their original duty assignment may request an extension of temporary light duty, with supporting documentation, to the department head. In considering an extension of light duty, the department head will consider the duration of the extension and if there are other employees who may qualify for a light duty position. The decision of the department head shall be final and shall not be subject to the grievance process. Only one extension shall be granted and said extension shall not exceed six months in duration.
- 7. Light-duty assignments shall not be made for disciplinary purposes.
- 8. Employees may not refuse temporary light-duty assignments that are supported by and consistent with the recommendations of a physician or certified health-care provider appointed by the City.

